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DECISION


William S. Price is subject to discipline because he pled guilty to two federal crimes involving the sexual exploitation of a minor.
Procedure


On January 11, 2008, the State Board of Nursing (“the Board”) filed a complaint seeking to discipline Price.  On February 4, 2008, Price was personally served with a copy of the complaint and our notice of complaint/notice of hearing.  Price did not file an answer.  On 
April 17, 2008, the Board filed a motion for summary determination.  On April 29, 2008, and May 12, 2008, Price filed letters concerning the motion.  By order dated May 28, 2008, we denied the motion for summary determination because the court records submitted as evidence were not properly certified.


On October 8, 2008, we held a hearing.  Loretta L. Schouten represented the Board.  Neither Price nor anyone representing him appeared.  The matter became ready for our decision on October 29, 2008, the date the transcript was filed.

Findings of Fact

1. Price is licensed by the Board as a registered professional nurse (“RN”).  His nursing license was issued on February 27, 1995, and expired on April 30, 2007.
2. From October 1, 2005, to June 12, 2006, Price knowingly employed, used, persuaded, induced, enticed and coerced a minor to engage in sexually explicit conduct for the purpose of producing a visual depiction of such conduct.
3. From November 11, 2004, to May 16, 2006, Price knowingly received visual depictions involving the use of minors engaged in sexually explicit conduct.
4. On March 22, 2007, an Information was filed in the United States District Court for the Western District of Missouri, St. Joseph Division (“the Court”):
COUNT ONE [Sexual Exploitation of Children]
 
On or about October 1, 2005, to and including June 12, 2006, in the Western District of Missouri and elsewhere, WILLIAM S. PRICE, defendant herein, knowingly employed, used, persuaded, induced, enticed, and coerced a minor to engage in sexually explicit conduct for the purpose of producing any visual depiction of such conduct and knew and had reason to know that such visual depiction would be transported in interstate and foreign commerce and was produced using materials that were mailed, shipped, and transported in interstate and foreign commerce by any means, including by computer, and attempted to do so; all in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 2251(a).
COUNT TWO [Activities Relating to Material Involving the

Sexual Exploitation of Minors]
 
On or about November 11, 2004, to and including May 16, 2006, in the Western District of Missouri and elsewhere, WILLIAM S. PRICE, defendant herein, knowingly received visual depictions in interstate commerce by means of a computer and the Internet, and the production of the visual depictions involved the use of minors engaged in sexually explicit conduct, and the visual depictions were of such conduct; all in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 2252(a)(2).[
]
5. On March 22, 2007, Price appeared in court and entered a guilty plea to Counts One and Two of the Information.  The court entered a pre-sentence investigation. 
6. At the time of our hearing, Price had not been sentenced.

Conclusions of Law 


We have jurisdiction to hear the complaint.
  The Board has the burden of proving that Price has committed an act for which the law allows discipline.
  The Board argues that there is cause for discipline under § 335.066:

2.  The board may cause a complaint to be filed with the administrative hearing commission as provided by chapter 621, RSMo, against any holder of any certificate of registration or authority, permit or license required by sections 335.011 to 335.096 or any person who has failed to renew or has surrendered his or her certificate of registration or authority, permit or license for any one or any combination of the following causes:

*   *   *

(2) The person has been finally adjudicated and found guilty, or entered a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, in a criminal prosecution pursuant to the laws of any state or of the United States, for any offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated pursuant to sections 335.011 to 335.096, for any offense an essential 
element of which is fraud, dishonesty or an act of violence, or for any offense involving moral turpitude, whether or not sentence is imposed;
*   *   *

(5) Incompetency, misconduct, gross negligence, fraud, misrepresentation or dishonesty in the performance of the functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated by sections 335.011 to 335.096;

*   *   *

(12) Violation of any professional trust or confidence[.]

I.  Guilty Plea

Sexual exploitation of a minor is defined in 18 U.S.C. § 2251(a):

(a) Any person who employs, uses, persuades, induces, entices, or coerces any minor to engage in, or who has a minor assist any other person to engage in, or who transports any minor in or affecting interstate or foreign commerce, or in any Territory or Possession of the United States, with the intent that such minor engage in, any sexually explicit conduct for the purpose of producing any visual depiction of such conductor or for the purpose of transmitting a live visual depiction of such conduct, shall be punished as provided under subsection (e), if such person knows or has reason to know that such visual depiction will be transported or transmitted using any means or facility of interstate or foreign commerce or in or affecting interstate or foreign commerce or mailed, if that visual depiction was produced or transmitted using materials that have been mailed, shipped, or transported in or affecting interstate or foreign commerce by any means, including by computer, or if such visual depiction has actually been transported or transmitted using any means or facility of interstate or foreign commerce or in or affecting interstate or foreign commerce or mailed.
The criminal offense under Count II (receipt of child pornography) is set forth in 18 U.S.C. 
§ 2252(a):

(a) Any person who – 
(1) knowingly transports or ships using any means or facility of interstate or foreign commerce or in or affecting interstate or foreign commerce by any means including by computer or mails, any visual depiction, if – 
(A) the producing of such visual depiction involves the use of a minor engaging in sexually explicit conduct; and
(B) such visual depiction is of such conduct;
(2) knowingly receives, or distributes, any visual depiction using any means or facility of interstate or foreign commerce or that has been mailed, or has been shipped or transported in or affecting interstate or foreign commerce, or which contains materials which have been mailed or so shipped or transported, by any means including by computer, or knowingly reproduces any visual depiction for distribution using any means or facility of interstate or foreign commerce or in or affecting interstate or foreign commerce or through the mails, if – 
(A) the producing of such visual depiction involves the use of a minor engaging in sexually explicit conduct; and

(B) such visual depiction is of such conduct[.]

Price pled guilty to sexual exploitation of a minor and to receipt of child pornography.  The Board argues that both crimes have essential elements of fraud or dishonesty, are crimes involving moral turpitude, and are reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of an RN.
A.  Reasonably Related to Profession

The qualifications of an RN include good moral character.
  Good moral character is honesty, fairness, and respect for the law and the rights of others.
  These crimes show a lack of good moral character.  In addition, a nurse is someone who must be trusted with people, including children, who are helpless and vulnerable.  The two offenses are related to the 
qualifications, functions or duties of the nursing profession.  There is cause for discipline under 
§ 335.066.2(2).

B.  Moral Turpitude


Moral turpitude is:

an act of baseness, vileness, or depravity in the private and social duties which a man owes to his fellowman or to society in general, contrary to the accepted and customary rule of right and duty between man and man; everything “done contrary to justice, honesty, modesty, and good morals.”[
]

In Brehe v. Missouri Dep’t of Elementary and Secondary Education,
 a case that involved discipline of a teacher’s certificate under § 168.071 for committing a crime involving moral turpitude, the court referred to three classifications of crimes:

(1) crimes that necessarily involve moral turpitude, such as frauds (Category 1 crimes);

(2) crimes “so obviously petty that conviction carries no suggestion of moral turpitude,” such as illegal parking (Category 2 crimes); and

(3) crimes that “may be saturated with moral turpitude,” yet do not involve it necessarily, such as willful failure to pay income tax or refusal to answer questions before a congressional committee (Category 3 crimes).
The court stated that Category 3 crimes require consideration of “the related factual circumstances” of the offense to determine whether moral turpitude is involved.
  We find that both offenses committed by Price are Category 1 crimes and thus necessary involve moral turpitude.  There is cause for discipline under § 335.066.2(2).

C.  Essential Element


Fraud is an intentional perversion of truth to induce another, in reliance on it, to part with some valuable thing belonging to him.
  It necessarily includes dishonesty, which is a lack of integrity or a disposition to defraud or deceive.
  An essential element is one that must be proven for a conviction in every case.
  Integrity is “firm adherence to a code of esp. moral or artistic values[.]”
  These criminal offenses do not require proof of fraud or dishonesty. 
II.  Professional Standards – Subdivision (5)

The Board argues that Price’s conduct constitutes fraud, dishonesty, misrepresentation, misconduct, incompetence and gross negligence in the performance of the functions or duties of an RN.

Price makes no attempt to explain the guilty plea, and we may take his plea as an admission of the underlying conduct.  But the Board failed to prove that any of the conduct took place in the performance of the functions or duties of an RN.  We have no other information.  With the only information we have, we made findings of fact about Price’s conduct.  None of the court records link Price’s criminal behavior with his nursing duties.  There is no cause for discipline under §  335.066.2(5).
III.  Violation Professional Trust – Subdivision (12)

The Board argues that Price’s conduct constitutes a violation of professional trust or confidence.  Professional trust is the reliance on the special knowledge and skills that 
professional licensure evidences.
  It may exist not only between the professional and his clients, but also between the professional and his employer and colleagues.
  


As noted above, Price’s criminal conduct, while reprehensible, is in no way linked with his professional skills.  There is no showing of reliance on those skills.  There is no cause for discipline under § 335.066.2(12).
Summary

There is cause to discipline Price under § 335.066.2(2).  There is no cause for discipline under § 335.066.2(5) or (12).

SO ORDERED on December 31, 2008.



________________________________



JOHN J. KOPP



Commissioner

�Called “Production of Child Pornography” in the court records.


�Called “Receipt of Child Pornography” in the court records.


�Ex. 2.


�Section 621.045, RSMo Supp. 2007.  Statutory references, unless otherwise noted, are to RSMo 2000.


�Missouri Real Estate Comm’n v. Berger, 764 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).  


�Section 335.046.1


�Hernandez v. State Bd. of Regis’n for Healing Arts, 936 S.W.2d 894, 899 n.1 (Mo. App., W.D. 1997).  


�In re Frick, 694 S.W.2d 473, 479 (Mo. banc 1985) (quoting In re Wallace, 19 S.W.2d 625 (Mo. banc 1929)).  


�213 S.W.3d 720 (Mo. App., W.D. 2007).


�Id. at 725 (quoting Twentieth Century-Fox Film Corp. v. Lardner, 216 F.2d 844, 852 (9th Cir. 1954)).


�Id.


�State ex rel. Williams v. Purl, 128 S.W. 196, 201 (Mo. 1910).  


�MERRIAM-WEBSTER’S COLLEGIATE DICTIONARY 359 (11th ed. 2004).  


�State ex rel. Atkins v. Missouri Bd. of Accountancy, 351 S.W.2d 483, 485 (Mo. App., K.C.D. 1961).


�MERRIAM-WEBSTER’S COLLEGIATE DICTIONARY 650 (11th ed. 2004).  


�Trieseler v. Helmbacher, 168 S.W.2d 1030, 1036 (Mo. 1943).  


�Cooper v. Missouri Bd. of Pharmacy, 774 S.W.2d 501, 504 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).
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